NO. 45462-9-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROBERT EMERICK,

Appellant,

v.

CARDIAC STUDY CENTER, P.S., INC.,

Respondent.

STATE OF WASHINGTON
DEPARTMENT OF
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT
2014 FEB 21 PM 2:45

FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

EISENHOWER CARLSON, PLLC
By: Stuart C. Morgan, WSBA #26368
Chrystina R. Solum, WSBA #41108
Attorneys for Appellant

EISENHOWER CARLSON, PLLC
1200 Wells Fargo Plaza
1201 Pacific Avenue
Tacoma, Washington 98402
Telephone: (253) 572-4500

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case pits one of the largest medical corporations in Pierce County against a single doctor who did not set up a competing institution, but who provides a medical practice that brings to the doctor-patient relationship something that insurance-driven medicine cannot offer – a comprehensive, caring partnership devoted to maintaining the health of the very organ that keeps us alive. The corporation seeks to punish and bankrupt the doctor, whom it long ago discharged even though it cannot point to a single patient it lost or the doctor gained by his having a nearby office.

Even though Washington and numerous jurisdictions prohibit lawyers from requiring or entering into non-competition agreements because doing so would adversely impact client choices, Cardiac Study Center, P.S., Inc. (“CSC”) would have this Court accept that doctors with whom we trust are lives should be subject to non-competition agreements. It is not hyperbolic or dramatic to point out that a cardiologist is trusted with his patient’s life, with his or her patient’s heart. A non-competition agreement limiting a physician’s right to treat his or her patient restricts patient choice at least as much, if not more, than a non-competition agreement restricts a client’s choice of lawyer. Surely a patient has a more vested interest in the right to choose who literally holds her heart than who sues her neighbor. Such restrictions are void as a matter of public policy.

After years of litigation, CSC failed to provide a scintilla of evidence that any actual competition exists (let alone unfair competition)

between its practice and Dr. Emerick's practice, and CSC has the burden of making that showing. What the evidence does show is that there are people in Pierce County who live full lives today, who were told by the institutional doctors at CSC that their days were numbered and that they should get their affairs in order. They ascribe their survival to being able to come under the watchful care of Dr. Emerick. CSC cannot credibly claim that those patients would have chosen its version of medicine.

The trial court erred in granting CSC summary judgment when (1) CSC failed to meet its burden to show that its anti-competition covenant was reasonable or necessary to protect its legitimate business interests and (2) Dr. Emerick demonstrated genuine issues of material fact. The trial court erroneously enforced CSC's anti-competition covenant for four years, which no Washington appellate court has ever sanctioned. The trial court gave Dr. Emerick time served for the 20 months between his termination from CSC and the time he established his practice in 2011. In effect, the trial court is imposing a staggering *seven-year* non-compete. On its own initiative, the trial court further required Dr. Emerick to move his practice outside the two-mile radius by May 9, 2014. Only once Dr. Emerick relocates his practice does the remaining 28-month period begin to run. No Washington court ever tolled the running of a restrictive covenant. Finally, the trial court also erred in determining that CSC was the substantially prevailing party when Dr. Emerick succeeded in having the covenant declared unreasonable and unenforceable. No Washington

decision has determined that an employer is the prevailing party when a court blue pencils the employer's restrictive covenant.

This Court should reverse, holding that non-competition agreements involving doctors violate public policy as a matter of law. In the alternative, this Court should hold that CSC's Non-Compete (1) violates public policy and (2) is overbroad and unreasonable. This Court should also hold that the trial court erred in finding that CSC was the substantially prevailing party and that Dr. Emerick is entitled to his attorney fees on appeal.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred in finding that CSC's Non-Compete was necessary to protect its business interests, including its interests in individual patients, business goodwill, reputation, business locations, referral sources, and established relationships because disputed issues of fact exist as to this issue (Conclusion of Law No. 1).

2. The trial court erred in finding that Dr. Emerick and CSC are striving for the same customers or market and that he is therefore in competition with CSC because disputed issues of fact exist as to this issue (Conclusion of Law No. 2).

3. The trial court erred in finding that in order to reasonably protect CSC's interests, the Non-Compete must be revised to restrain Dr. Emerick's practice within a two-mile radius of CSC's current offices and for four years, less the 20 months between September 2009 and June 2011 (Conclusion of Law No. 4, Order and Injunctive Relief No. 1, 2).

4. The trial court erred in requiring Dr. Emerick to relocate his practice to a location more than two miles from CSC's offices (Conclusion of Law No. 5, Order and Injunctive Relief No. 1).

5. The trial court erred in finding that CSC obtained substantial enforcement of the Non-Compete and substantially prevailed (Conclusion of Law No. 6, Finding of Fact Nos. 5 & 8).

6. The trial court abused its discretion in finding that the time spent and fees and costs CSC sought were reasonable and that no further reductions were required (Findings of Fact Nos. 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14; Conclusion of Law 18).

7. The trial court abused its discretion in awarding CSC \$204,251.39 in attorney fees and costs (Finding of Fact No. 15, Judgment).

III. FACTS

Dr. Robert Emerick is a board certified physician in cardiovascular disease, interventional cardiology, and internal medicine. I Clerk's Papers (CP) at 60. Dr. Emerick obtained his education and performed several prestigious residencies long before moving to Washington State. I CP at 60. Dr. Emerick practiced interventional and consultative cardiology in Memphis, Tennessee until 2002. I CP at 60.

When Dr. Emerick joined CSC, he was a board eligible interventional cardiologist. I CP at 61. Dr. Emerick fulfilled all prerequisites to sit for the interventional cardiology exam while practicing

medicine in Memphis, Tennessee. I CP at 61. Dr. Emerick passed the interventional cardiology board in November 2008. I CP at 61. To do so, Dr. Emerick paid for all preparation courses himself, studied on his own time, and used personal vacation time to prepare for the exam. I CP at 61. Dr. Emerick also paid his own examination fee. I CP at 61. CSC did not contribute anything toward Dr. Emerick's certification as an interventional cardiologist. I CP at 61.

A. Dr. Emerick's Employment at CSC and Subsequent Termination.

Beginning in 2002, Dr. Emerick served as a loyal and hardworking CSC employee. I CP at 61. Dr. Emerick was one of CSC's most successful and profitable physicians; so much so that CSC offered to make him a shareholder in February 2004, less than two years after he started. I CP at 61. CSC required Dr. Emerick to sign a breathtakingly broad Non-Compete that purports to restrict Dr. Emerick's ability to practice cardiac medicine for five years after the termination of his employment:

The Employee . . . agrees and covenants that during the Employee's employment by the Corporation and for sixty (60) full months after termination of such employment for any reason, the Employee will not, directly or indirectly, (i) anywhere within Pierce County and Federal Way, Washington ("Restricted Area"), engage in the practice of cardiac medicine in any manner which is directly competitive with any aspect of the business of the Corporation...whether or not using any *Confidential Information*; (ii) anywhere in the Restricted Area, have any business dealings or contracts, except those which demonstrably do not relate to or

compete with the business or interests of the corporation, with any then existing patient, customer or client (or party with whom the Corporation contracts) of the Corporation or any person or firm which has been contacted or identified by the Corporation as a potential customer or client of the Corporation; or (iii) be an employee, employer, consultant, agent, officer, director, partner, trustee, or shareholder of any person or entity that does any of the activities just listed. Provided, however, nothing herein shall preclude a patient from selecting a provider of their [sic] choice.

I CP at 33. When CSC presented Dr. Emerick with the Non-Compete, he was not allowed to negotiate over any terms. I CP at 61. CSC simply handed him a pre-printed form and instructed him to sign. I CP at 61. The Non-Compete was not tailored to Dr. Emerick's situation. I CP at 61.

CSC forced Dr. Emerick out of the partnership effective September 30, 2009, more than four years ago. I CP at 61. CSC then attempted to enforce a five-year non-competition provision that would have denied Pierce County cardiac patients from seeing the doctor of their choice. I CP at 61. Such efforts clearly violate the American Medical Association Code of Ethics 9.02, which provides:

Covenants-not-to-compete restrict competition, disrupt continuity of care, and potentially deprive the public of medical services. The Council on Ethical and Judicial Affairs discourages any agreement which restricts the right of a physician to practice medicine for a specified period of time or in a specified area upon termination of employment, partnership, or corporate agreement. Restrictive covenants are unethical if they are excessive in geographic scope or duration in the circumstances presented, or if they fail to make reasonable accommodation of patients' choice of physician.

CSC has shown complete disregard for the AMA's directives throughout this litigation by attempting to enforce an unreasonable, excessive restrictive covenant that would deny cardiac patients their physician of choice.

Since his termination more than four years ago, Dr. Emerick has not received any referrals from CSC's referral sources. I CP at 61. He has not contacted any of CSC's referral sources. I CP at 61.

B. Dr. Emerick Filed Suit to Enjoin CSC from Enforcing its Non-Compete, is Granted Summary Judgment, and Subsequently Opens his Practice.

After his termination in September 2009, Dr. Emerick did not open a practice or obtain employment in any other medical practice. I CP at 128. Instead, Dr. Emerick filed this action seeking to enjoin CSC from enforcing its Non-Compete. V CP at 634 – 55. Dr. Emerick intentionally and specifically waited for the resolution of his case at the trial court to see whether he would be able to continue to serve his patients and his community. I CP at 128. In December 2010, the trial court granted Dr. Emerick's motion for summary judgment, finding that CSC's Non-Compete violated public policy and was unenforceable. *Emerick v. Cardiac Study Center, Inc., P.S.*, 170 Wn. App. 248, 253, 286 P.3d 689,

rev. denied, 175 Wn.2d 1028 (2012). The trial court also found that CSC had no real protectable business interest. *Id.*

CSC never sought a stay of the trial court's order allowing Dr. Emerick to serve cardiac patients in Pierce County. In reliance on the trial court's order, Dr. Emerick executed a lease, built out the space, and opened his practice in Gig Harbor, Washington in June 2011. I CP C at 61, 128. Dr. Emerick's practice is based on a radically different model of patient care than CSC's practice and enjoys no competitive benefit from his time at CSC. I CP at 61, 128.

Dr. Emerick (1) operates a new practice wholly unique from any other cardiology practice in Washington State, (2) derives no benefit from his employment history with CSC, (3) has not used any of CSC's referral sources, (4) hired independent consultants to help him develop the concierge practice he runs, (5) has an office that bears no relationship to CSC's Gig Harbor practice, and (6) invested considerable funds to the development of his office location.

When Dr. Emerick founded Choice Cardiovascular, he developed a practice wholly unique from CSC's traditional cardiovascular medicine practice. I CP at 128. In order to create his unique, direct-payment practice, Dr. Emerick opted out of the government Medicare program as a healthcare provider. I CP at 128. This allows him the flexibility and

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case pits one of the largest medical corporations in Pierce County against a single doctor who did not set up a competing institution, but who provides a medical practice that brings to the doctor-patient relationship something that insurance-driven medicine cannot offer – a comprehensive, caring partnership devoted to maintaining the health of the very organ that keeps us alive. The corporation seeks to punish and bankrupt the doctor, whom it long ago discharged even though it cannot point to a single patient it lost or the doctor gained by his having a nearby office.

Even though Washington and numerous jurisdictions prohibit lawyers from requiring or entering into non-competition agreements because doing so would adversely impact client choices, Cardiac Study Center, P.S., Inc. (“CSC”) would have this Court accept that doctors with whom we trust are lives should be subject to non-competition agreements. It is not hyperbolic or dramatic to point out that a cardiologist is trusted with his patient’s life, with his or her patient’s heart. A non-competition agreement limiting a physician’s right to treat his or her patient restricts patient choice at least as much, if not more, than a non-competition agreement restricts a client’s choice of lawyer. Surely a patient has a more vested interest in the right to choose who literally holds her heart than who sues her neighbor. Such restrictions are void as a matter of public policy.

After years of litigation, CSC failed to provide a scintilla of evidence that any actual competition exists (let alone unfair competition)

between its practice and Dr. Emerick's practice, and CSC has the burden of making that showing. What the evidence does show is that there are people in Pierce County who live full lives today, who were told by the institutional doctors at CSC that their days were numbered and that they should get their affairs in order. They ascribe their survival to being able to come under the watchful care of Dr. Emerick. CSC cannot credibly claim that those patients would have chosen its version of medicine.

The trial court erred in granting CSC summary judgment when (1) CSC failed to meet its burden to show that its anti-competition covenant was reasonable or necessary to protect its legitimate business interests and (2) Dr. Emerick demonstrated genuine issues of material fact. The trial court erroneously enforced CSC's anti-competition covenant for four years, which no Washington appellate court has ever sanctioned. The trial court gave Dr. Emerick time served for the 20 months between his termination from CSC and the time he established his practice in 2011. In effect, the trial court is imposing a staggering *seven-year* non-compete. On its own initiative, the trial court further required Dr. Emerick to move his practice outside the two-mile radius by May 9, 2014. Only once Dr. Emerick relocates his practice does the remaining 28-month period begin to run. No Washington court ever tolled the running of a restrictive covenant. Finally, the trial court also erred in determining that CSC was the substantially prevailing party when Dr. Emerick succeeded in having the covenant declared unreasonable and unenforceable. No Washington

decision has determined that an employer is the prevailing party when a court blue pencils the employer's restrictive covenant.

This Court should reverse, holding that non-competition agreements involving doctors violate public policy as a matter of law. In the alternative, this Court should hold that CSC's Non-Compete (1) violates public policy and (2) is overbroad and unreasonable. This Court should also hold that the trial court erred in finding that CSC was the substantially prevailing party and that Dr. Emerick is entitled to his attorney fees on appeal.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred in finding that CSC's Non-Compete was necessary to protect its business interests, including its interests in individual patients, business goodwill, reputation, business locations, referral sources, and established relationships because disputed issues of fact exist as to this issue (Conclusion of Law No. 1).

2. The trial court erred in finding that Dr. Emerick and CSC are striving for the same customers or market and that he is therefore in competition with CSC because disputed issues of fact exist as to this issue (Conclusion of Law No. 2).

3. The trial court erred in finding that in order to reasonably protect CSC's interests, the Non-Compete must be revised to restrain Dr. Emerick's practice within a two-mile radius of CSC's current offices and for four years, less the 20 months between September 2009 and June 2011 (Conclusion of Law No. 4, Order and Injunctive Relief No. 1, 2).

4. The trial court erred in requiring Dr. Emerick to relocate his practice to a location more than two miles from CSC's offices (Conclusion of Law No. 5, Order and Injunctive Relief No. 1).

5. The trial court erred in finding that CSC obtained substantial enforcement of the Non-Compete and substantially prevailed (Conclusion of Law No. 6, Finding of Fact Nos. 5 & 8).

6. The trial court abused its discretion in finding that the time spent and fees and costs CSC sought were reasonable and that no further reductions were required (Findings of Fact Nos. 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14; Conclusion of Law 18).

7. The trial court abused its discretion in awarding CSC \$204,251.39 in attorney fees and costs (Finding of Fact No. 15, Judgment).

III. FACTS

Dr. Robert Emerick is a board certified physician in cardiovascular disease, interventional cardiology, and internal medicine. I Clerk's Papers (CP) at 60. Dr. Emerick obtained his education and performed several prestigious residencies long before moving to Washington State. I CP at 60. Dr. Emerick practiced interventional and consultative cardiology in Memphis, Tennessee until 2002. I CP at 60.

When Dr. Emerick joined CSC, he was a board eligible interventional cardiologist. I CP at 61. Dr. Emerick fulfilled all prerequisites to sit for the interventional cardiology exam while practicing

medicine in Memphis, Tennessee. I CP at 61. Dr. Emerick passed the interventional cardiology board in November 2008. I CP at 61. To do so, Dr. Emerick paid for all preparation courses himself, studied on his own time, and used personal vacation time to prepare for the exam. I CP at 61. Dr. Emerick also paid his own examination fee. I CP at 61. CSC did not contribute anything toward Dr. Emerick's certification as an interventional cardiologist. I CP at 61.

A. Dr. Emerick's Employment at CSC and Subsequent Termination.

Beginning in 2002, Dr. Emerick served as a loyal and hardworking CSC employee. I CP at 61. Dr. Emerick was one of CSC's most successful and profitable physicians; so much so that CSC offered to make him a shareholder in February 2004, less than two years after he started. I CP at 61. CSC required Dr. Emerick to sign a breathtakingly broad Non-Compete that purports to restrict Dr. Emerick's ability to practice cardiac medicine for five years after the termination of his employment:

The Employee . . . agrees and covenants that during the Employee's employment by the Corporation and for sixty (60) full months after termination of such employment for any reason, the Employee will not, directly or indirectly, (i) anywhere within Pierce County and Federal Way, Washington ("Restricted Area"), ~~engage in the practice of cardiac medicine in any manner which is~~ directly competitive with any aspect of the business of the Corporation...whether or not using any *Confidential Information*; (ii) anywhere in the Restricted Area, have any business dealings or contracts, except those which demonstrably do not relate to or

compete with the business or interests of the corporation, with any then existing patient, customer or client (or party with whom the Corporation contracts) of the Corporation or any person or firm which has been contacted or identified by the Corporation as a potential customer or client of the Corporation; or (iii) be an employee, employer, consultant, agent, officer, director, partner, trustee, or shareholder of any person or entity that does any of the activities just listed. Provided, however, nothing herein shall preclude a patient from selecting a provider of their [sic] choice.

I CP at 33. When CSC presented Dr. Emerick with the Non-Compete, he was not allowed to negotiate over any terms. I CP at 61. CSC simply handed him a pre-printed form and instructed him to sign. I CP at 61. The Non-Compete was not tailored to Dr. Emerick's situation. I CP at 61.

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