COUNT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2014 MAR 31 PH 2: 01

No. 45462-9

STATE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

N W

ROBERT EMERICK

Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

v.

CARDIAC STUDY CENTER, INC., P.S.

Respondent/Cross-Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT/CROSS-APPELLANT

GORDON THOMAS HONEYWELL LLP Stephanie Bloomfield, WSBA No. 24251 Shelly Andrew, WSBA No. 41195 Attorneys for Respondent/Cross-Appellant

1201 Pacific Avenue, Suite 2100 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 620-6500

[100085934.docx]

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

C. The Trial Court Properly Concluded that Cardiac Was the Substantially Prevailing Party in this Action.

Under Washington law, a prevailing party is "one who receives an affirmative judgment in his or her favor." *Riss v. Angel*, 131 Wn.2d 612, 633, 934 P.2d 669 (1997); *see also Pipekorn v. Adams*, 102 Wn. App. 673, 686–87, 10 P.3d 428 (2000) (a party who is successful in obtaining injunctive relief was substantially prevailing party even when the court declined the same party's request for damages). The determination of which party prevails in an action is a mixed question of law and fact that this Court will review under an "error of law standard." *Eagle Point Condo. Owners, Ass'n v. Coy*, 102 Wn. App. 697, 706, 9 P.3d 898 (2000). The trial court correctly determined that Cardiac was the substantially prevailing party in this action after Cardiac was awarded affirmative relief, where Emerick was denied all relief he sought.

In 2009 Emerick filed his Complaint in this action seeking injunctive and declaratory relief invalidating, in its entirety, the non-competition agreement Emerick entered into with Cardiac, claiming it violated public policy. CP 638. After years of litigation and appeal, the trial court granted Cardiac's motion for summary judgment, enforced the noncompete as revised, and enjoined Emerick from practicing in violation of the agreement. CP 322. Comparing the relief afforded Emerick versus

that afforded Cardiac, there is no dispute that Cardiac is the substantially prevailing party here. The authority relied on by Emerick the does not change this result.

Emerick principally relies on three cases from other jurisdictions. The most readily distinguishable case is *Profit Wize Marketing v. Wiest*, 812 A.2d 1270 (Pa. 2002), in which the Pennsylvania Supreme Court upheld denial of an employer's request for prevailing party attorneys' fees after the dispute between employer and former employee was resolved by agreement between the parties. In reviewing the trial court's decision, the court explained that "[a]lthough a hearing commenced on the underlying issues, the lower court never reached the merits of the case or vindicated [the employer's] position." *Id.* at 1275. The court went on to reason that:

[T]he noun, "prevailing party," is commonly defined as "a party in whose favor judgment is rendered, regardless of the amount of damages awarded." ... While this definition encompasses those situations where a party receives less relief than was sought or even nominal relief, its application is still limited to those circumstances where the fact finder declares a winner and the court enters judgment in that party's favor. Such a pronouncement does not accompany a compromise or settlement.

Id. at 1275-76. (internal citation omitted). In this case, there was no settlement between Cardiac and Emerick, and even under the reasoning of *Profit Wize*, Cardiac – the party receiving relief – is the prevailing party.

Building on the Pennsylvania Supreme Court's opinion in *Profit* Wize, a federal court in Pennsylvania determined that it lacked the authority to revise an attorneys' fee provision between an employer and employee, and because enforcing the one-sided agreement would have been inequitable, the court declined to award fees to either side. Zambelli Fireworks Manufacturing Co. v. Wood, 2010 WL 4672357 (W.D. Pa. 2010). In Zambelli the employer brought suit against its former employee asserting seven distinct causes of action, the court granted summary judgment dismissal of six of these claims in favor of the employee, but granted the employer affirmative relief on its non-competition claim. *Id.* at *6-7. The parties' agreement provided that if it became necessary for the employer to bring suit to enforce the agreement, and the employer prevailed, the employee agreed to "pay all legal fees, court costs and expenses." Id. at *7 (emphasis added). The court noted that the agreement was silent as to the effect of a partially-prevailing employer and noted that "it does not appear that modification of an attorney fee provision is available under Pennsylvania law." Id. at *8 (citing Profit Wize, 812 A.2d 1270). Without an applicable framework for determining

whether a party had "substantially prevailed" in the action, the court relied on the facts that no judgment would be entered in favor of the employer and the employee had prevailed on six of the seven claims asserted. The court then concluded that the employer could not be deemed the "prevailing party" under these circumstances and was thus not entitled to an award of all fees and costs incurred in the action. *Id.* at *10.

Under Washington law, unlike the situations presented by *Profit Wize* and *Zambelli*, the trial court had clear guidance to determine which party "substantially prevailed" for the purposes of awarding prevailing party attorneys' fees under a contract. *See, e.g., Pipekorn v. Adams*, 102 Wn. App. at 686–87; *Silverdale Hotel Assocs. v. Lomas & Nettleton Co.*, 36 Wn. App. 762, 773–74, 677 P.2d 773 (1984).

Emerick also relies on *Paradise v. Midwest Asphalt Coatings, Inc.*, 316 S.W.3d 327 (Mo. Ct. App. 2010), which is also inconsistent with Washington law. In *Paradise*, the non-competition and attorneys' fee provisions of an employment agreement were unconscionable, and the court refused to grant an injunction or to award prevailing party attorneys' fees. *Id.* at 328. Under Missouri law, the court had the discretion to either invalidate an unreasonable agreement or revise it. *Id.* at 330 (citing *Payroll Advance, Inc. v. Yates*, 270 S.W.3d 428, 437 (Mo. Ct. App. 2008)). The court chose to revise the agreement to eliminate the

prevailing party attorneys' fees. On appeal, the Missouri Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's exercise of discretion. *Id.* at 330.

By contrast, under Washington law when a court is presented with an overbroad covenant not to compete, the entire covenant does not fail leaving the court to create a modified agreement in its discretion. Instead, the court is required to enforce so much of the agreement as is reasonable. See, e.g., Wood v. May, 73 Wn.2d at 312. Unlike the circumstances presented in Paradise, the trial court – consistent with Washington law – enforced the original agreement to the extent it was reasonable. Thus, Emerick's argument that the trial court erred by failing to follow the logic set out in Paradise must fail because the legal underpinnings of the trial court's action here and the result required under Missouri law in Paradise are fundamentally different than Washington law.

Emerick also includes, with little discussion, a citation to the unpublished decision of *Head v. Morris Veterinary Center*, 2005 WL 1620328 (Minn. App. 2005). It should be noted that under RAP 10.4(h) and GR 14.1(b), a party may cite to an unpublished opinion of a court from another jurisdiction "only if citation to that opinion is permitted under the law of the jurisdiction of the issuing court." GR 14.1(b). The *Head* decision plainly states on its face: "This opinion will be unpublished and may not be cited except as provided by Minn.

Stat. § 480A.08, subd. 3 (2004)," which provides: "Unpublished opinions of the Court of Appeals <u>are not precedential</u>." (emphasis added). While this decision has no precedential value, even if the Court chooses to consider *Head*, it offers no support to Emerick's position.

In *Head* the Minnesota court of appeals upheld the award of attorneys' fees to employees after the trial court modified the terms of the parties' noncompetition agreement, because the employees had "obtained a more favorable result." *Id.* at *2. In contrast, here the trial court granted Cardiac's request for an injunction and enforcement of the parties' noncompete to the extent reasonable and necessary to protect Cardiac's protectable business interests. Emerick has been granted absolutely no affirmative relief. Cardiac clearly obtained the more favorable result here.

The trial court properly applied the framework set out in *Pipekorn* v. Adams, and Silverdale Hotel Assocs. v. Lomas & Nettleton Co. when it evaluated the relative position of the parties after granting Cardiac's motion for summary judgment. The trial court correctly concluded that Cardiac received the greatest measure of relief in this litigation and properly determined that Cardiac was the substantially prevailing party. Emerick cannot show any error of law that would warrant reversal, and the trial court's decision should be affirmed.

D. The Trial Court did not Abuse Its Discretion in Awarding Cardiac Its Reasonable Attorneys' Fees but Erred as a Matter of Law by Denying Cardiac Fees Incurred on Appeal.

The legal basis for an award of attorneys' fees is a question of law that the Court of Appeals will review de novo. See Gander v. Yeager, 167 Wn. App. 638, 646-47, 282 P.3d 1100 (2012) (citing Unifund CCR Partners v. Sunde, 163 Wn. App. 473, 483-84, 260 P.3d 915 (2011); Bank of New York v. Hooper, 164 Wn. App. 295, 303, 263 P.3d 1263 (2011)). Once the legal determination has been made with regard to the basis for an award of fees, a trial court's determination of the reasonableness of the fees awarded (or denied) will be reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Id. "A trial judge has broad discretion in determining the reasonableness of an attorney fee award and, in order to reverse that award, the opponent must show that the trial court manifestly abused its discretion." Unifund CCR Partners v. Sunde, 163 Wn. App. at 484 (citing Ehtridge v. Hwang, 105) Wn. App. 447, 460, 20 P.3d 958 (2001)). However, a trial court abuses its discretion by applying the wrong legal standard or coming to a conclusion that is legally unsound. E.g., Washington State Physicians Ins. Exch. & Ass'n v. Fisons Corp., 122 Wn.2d 299, 339, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993).

Here, the language of the parties' Agreement is mandatory: it states "the prevailing party shall have and recover against the other party ... such sum as the court may adjudge to be a reasonable attorney's fee."

CP 654. The trial court found that Cardiac's attorney's fees were reasonable, and awarded Cardiac its reasonable fees incurred for work performed at the trial court both before and after remand, but ultimately determined that Cardiac did not have a legal basis for recovering its prevailing party attorney's fees for appellate work based on the Court of Appeal's prior decisions. 10/18/13 VTP at 17:23-18:15. This ruling is precisely the type of legal ruling that this Court will review *de novo*. *See Gander v. Yeager*, 167 Wn. App. at 646-47.

1. The trial court erred as a matter of law when it denied Cardiac its reasonable attorneys' fees incurred on appeal.

After the trial court determined that Cardiac was the prevailing party in this action, Emerick argued that Cardiac was not entitled to recover its prevailing party attorney's fees for work done on the first appeal because Cardiac had failed to request these fees in its earlier appeal asking this Court to reverse the order granting Emerick summary judgment and to vacate the award of prevailing party attorney's fees to Emerick. CP 470-71. Emerick also argued that the trial court lacked the authority to award prevailing party attorney's fees to Cardiac for work done on appeal because the Court of Appeals was the only court that could award these fees and it had elected only to award Cardiac its statutory (and not prevailing party) attorneys' fees. CP 470-71; 10/18/13 VTP at 11:9-

13. This argument, and the decision of the trial court based on this argument, is legally flawed.

Washington case law supports an award of prevailing party attorney's fees under RAP 18.1 only where the party requesting those fees is the prevailing party in the underlying action and can demonstrate a basis for the recovery of fees for work performed during a successful appeal. See, e.g., Belfor USA Group, Inc. v. Thiel, 160 Wn.2d 669, 670, 160 P.3d 39 (2007); Satomi Owners Ass'n v. Satomi, LLC, 167 Wn.2d 781, 817-18, 225 P.3d 213 (2009); Landberg v. Carlson, 108 Wn. App. 749, 758, 33 P.3d 406 (2001) (noting that because no prevailing party attorneys' fees were available at trial, none were available under RAP 18.1).

In *Belfor* the party requesting an award of attorney's fees under RAP 18.1 had successfully resisted a petition for review of the trial court's order compelling arbitration under the parties' contract. *Belfor USA Group, Inc. v. Thiel*, 160 Wn.2d 669. The court on appeal held that, despite the fact that Belfor prevailed in its request to compel arbitration under the contract, and prevailed in resisting discretionary review of that decision, "Belfor has not yet prevailed in collecting under the contract." *Id.* at 671. Because the parties' contract provided only for prevailing party fees incurred in collecting under the contract, the court reversed the grant of fees to Belfor. *Id.* The court instead found that Belfor could collect its

fees if it prevailed in its collection efforts, but that at the time of the appeal "Belfor is not yet a 'prevailing party' for purposes of the contract's attorney fees provision" and therefore was not yet eligible to recover fees. *Id.*

Similarly, in *Satomi Owners Association*, the parties' agreement stated that if either party instituted suit against the other concerning the agreement, the prevailing party was entitled to recover its fees and costs. After reversing the decision of the trial court and remanding the case for further proceedings, the Supreme Court determined that neither party was entitled to prevailing party fees on appeal because "[the court's] decision is not determinative of the prevailing party with regard to the underlying litigation." *Satomi Owners Ass'n v. Satomi, LLC*, 167 Wn.2d at 817. As a result, the court deferred the question of RAP 18.1 fees. *Id.* at 818.

In the present case, the Court of Appeals' decision reversing summary judgment in Emerick's favor had the effect of undoing Emerick's status as the prevailing party, but neither the Court of Appeals nor the trial court had yet concluded that Cardiac should prevail on the merits. *See Emerick I*, 170 Wn. App. at 695. Thus, like the situation presented in *Satomi*, there was not yet any "prevailing party" entitled to recover under the parties' Shareholder Employment Agreement. Cardiac was therefore not yet entitled to an award of fees under RAP 18.1, the

Agreement, or RCW 4.84.330. However, after returning to the trial court and prevailing on summary judgment, Cardiac then became the prevailing party in this action and was for the first time entitled to recover its reasonable attorney's fees as provided in the Shareholder Employment Agreement. These included fees incurred in "any suit or action for any type of relief ... including any appeal thereof, arising out of this Agreement." CP at 21.

To avoid this result, Emerick argues that that Cardiac was required to make a premature request for prevailing party attorneys' fees to the Court of Appeals under RAP 18.1 in its earlier appeal, and that Cardiac is forever barred from recovering any fees that would have been included in that baseless request. This argument is illogical and not supported by legal authority. Cardiac was not yet the "prevailing party" in this action when it was last before the Court of Appeals, having returned to the trial court and obtained affirmative relief, Cardiac is now entitled to recover all reasonable attorneys' fees under the Shareholder Employment Agreement, including the fees incurred by Cardiac for work done on appeal. The trial court erred as a matter of law when it determined that Cardiac had waived the right to that portion of its prevailing party attorney's for work performed on appeal, and this decision should be reversed.

Even if this Court finds that Cardiac somehow waived its right to recover attorney's fees as the now-prevailing party for work performed on appeal prior to Cardiac prevailing on the underlying action, this Court should determine that any such bar applies only to the fees Cardiac incurred but failed to request on appeal. Emerick argued that Cardiac incurred \$83,169.50 in appellate fees and another \$1,368.87 in appellate costs, recovery of which was denied by this Court. CP 470, 476. This calculation is flawed, as Cardiac incurred a substantial amount of these fees after this Court's February 28, 2012, Opinion due to Emerick's continued appellate wrangling, including Emerick's unsuccessful motion for reconsideration and unsuccessful petition for review to the Washington Supreme Court. See, e.g., CP 560-71.

At a minimum the trial court erred in concluding that Cardiac was precluded from recovering any of its fees incurred on appeal, and this Court should reverse that decision and remand with instructions on which fees if any should be excluded from Cardiac's award of attorney's fees.

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